#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CC-01720

PRECISION COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

V.

HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### ON APPEAL FROM HINDS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 251-08-940CIV

Precision Communications, Inc. v. Hinds County, Mississippi

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT PRECISION COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Robert L. Gibbs, Esq., MSB N Katie L. Wallace, Esq., MSB N BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC Pinnacle Building, Suite 100 190 E. Capitol Street **Post Office Drawer 119** Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: (601) 948-3101

Facsimile: (601) 960-6902

ATTORNEYS FOR PRECISION COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Circuit Court erred in interpreting its role as an Appellate Court under Miss.
   Code Ann. § 11-51-75.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in declaring Precision Communication's Circuit Court Appeal moot after allowing the Hinds County Board of Supervisors to remedy its error of illegally considering ineligible bids.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

On or about July 31, 2008, Hinds County, Mississippi, by and through its Board of Supervisors (sometimes referred to herein as "the County") issued a Publication for an Early Warning System for Hinds County- Notice of Bids by Electronic Process. Precision Communications, Inc. ("Precision") and other vendors hand delivered sealed specifications without pricing to the Clerk's office on or before August 12, 2008, and on September 2, 2008, all bidding vendors participated in an online electronic bidding event. On Monday, November 17, 2008, the Hinds County Board of Supervisors met for a Special Meeting and voted to award the contract to Emergency Dispatch Notification Systems ("EDNS"). (R. E. 3, 4, 5). Thereafter, EDNS and the County negotiated a contract memorializing their agreement to provide early warning system sirens for the County. (R. E. 6, 7).

On November 26, 2008, Precision timely filed its Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court of Hinds County (the "Circuit Court") pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 11-51-75, appealing the actions of the Board of Supervisors. (R. 3). On December 3, 2008, Precision filed an Emergency Motion to Stay, requesting that the Circuit Court stay the implementation of the County's award of contract to EDNS pending the Court's ruling on its Appeal. (R. 12). The Circuit Court denied Precision's Motion to Stay on December 22, 2008. (R. 49).

On July 31, 2009, Precision filed its Bill of Exceptions and the County's Corrected Bill of Exceptions as signed by George Smith, President of the Hinds County Board of Supervisors. Precision's Bill of Exceptions (Exhibit to the Record on Appeal but unnumbered). Pursuant to the Agreed Order Establishing Scheduling Order and Briefing Schedule (R. 66), Precision filed its Appellant Brief on July 31, 2009.

On July 28, 2009, the County filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (R. E. 9). Precision filed a Response in Opposition to the Motion on July 31, 2009. (R. E. 10). On September 2, 2009, the Circuit Court entered an Order Denying Motion to Dismiss and Imposing Stay, wherein the Circuit Court remanded the matter to the Hinds County Board of Supervisors for reconsideration of bids for the early warning siren project as of August 29, 2008. (R. E. 12). The Court also stayed Precision's appeal in the interim. *Id.* By letter dated September 18, 2009, the County informed the Court that as a result of its reconsideration of bids, it voted to reject all of the bids and rebid the early warning siren project. (R. 128). As a result of the County's actions, the Circuit Court entered an Order Lifting Stay and Dismissing Appeal, finding that the County's decision to rebid the siren project rendered Precision's appeal moot. (R. E. 2).

On October 12, 2009, Precision timely filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court, from the Circuit Court's Order Lifting Stay and Dismissing Appeal. (R. E. 13).

#### B. Statement of Facts

Precision is a Mississippi corporation with its principal place of business in Amory, Mississippi. Precision has held a certificate of responsibility in the State of Mississippi in the field of Communications Systems in accordance with Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 31-3-15 and 31-3-21 since July 8, 2008. (Precision Certificate of Responsibility, Exhibit 1 to Bill of Exceptions).

When the County published a notice that it was accepting bids for the replacement of early warning system sirens in Hinds County, Precision submitted a proposal in accordance with the deadlines set forth in the bid specifications. Also pursuant to the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §§ 31-3-15 and 31-3-21 and Paragraphs 8 and 11 of the project bid specifications, Precision duly provided its certificate of responsibility number on the outside of the envelope of its

proposal. Precision met all requirements of the Notice of Bids and Bids Specs and all Addendums. (Precision Proposal, Exhibit 4 to Bill of Exceptions).

Other vendors also submitted proposals and sealed specifications in response to the Notice of Bids, including EDNS, Massey Construction, LLC, McCord Communications, Early Warning Systems, Inc., ATI Systems, and American Signal Corporations. Although EDNS submitted a proposal and later electronically bid on the Bid Bridge system as the entity known as EDNS, Bill Plant, a representative of EDNS, who is also the manufacturer's representative for Federal Signal Corporation, later claimed that Federal Signal Corporation directly bid on the project. (R. E. 5 at ln. 217-219). In any event, John Sullivan, Executive Secretary of the Mississippi Board of Contractors has affirmed that neither EDNS nor Federal Signal Corporation possessed a certificate of responsibility at the time of its submission which is in direct violation of Miss. Code Ann. §§ 31-3-15 and 31-3-21. (R. E. 8). Of the seven bidding vendors, only three submitted certificates of responsibility on the outside cover of their proposal: Precision, McCord Communications and Massey Construction. Exhibit A to Brief of Appellant filed in Hinds County Circuit Court (Exhibit to Record on Appeal but unnumbered). However, McCord Communications' certificate of responsibility was in the field of Electrical and Massey Construction's certificate of responsibility was in the field of Building Construction. None of the other vendors besides Precision possessed a certificate of responsibility in the appropriate field of Communications. Id.

Despite the fact that many of the proposals did not have a certificate of responsibility on the outside cover of their proposal, the County considered the proposals of all vendors, and allowed all the vendors to participate in an online electronic bidding process. Frank Jackson acted as the administrator for the Bid Bridge bidding system. As a condition to each bidder's participation in the bidding event, the bidders were required to execute an Electronic Bid Event

Submission Form, acknowledging, among other conditions, that Jackson received 3% of the proceeds of the awarded contract. (Electronic Bid Event Submission form, Exhibit 7 to Bill of Exceptions; Bid Date Report from the Early Warning System Bid, Exhibit 8 to Bill of Exceptions). Jackson modified the Precision proposal, and submitted only one of Precision's three proposals to the County.

On Monday, November 17, 2008, the Hinds County Board of Supervisors met for a Special Meeting ("November 17 Board Meeting"). (R. E. 3, 4, 5). At the November 17 Board Meeting, Bill Plant, representative for EDNS, admitted that neither EDNS nor Federal Signal Corporation had a certificate of responsibility in the State of Mississippi. (R. E. 5 at ln. 230-236). Nevertheless, at the conclusion of the meeting, by a unanimous vote, the County voted to award the contract to EDNS. *Id.* Thereafter, EDNS entered into a contract with the County and installed ten (10) early warning sirens in the County, with the option to install up to forty-one (41) more throughout the life the contract. (R. 81).

Following Precision's filing of its Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court (sometimes referred to herein as the "Circuit Court Appeal" or "Precision's Appeal") pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, the parties litigated over whether the action should be stayed pending the outcome of the Circuit Court Appeal, as well as issues regarding the receipt of documents requested by Precision from the County for preparation of its Bill of Exceptions, which serves as the record in circuit court appeals. In June of 2009, the parties resolved most of the issues and entered into an Agreed Order which provided for a briefing schedule for the appeal. Almost simultaneously with Precision's filing of its Circuit Court Appellant Brief, the County filed a Motion to Dismiss Precision's Appeal, stating that pursuant to the bid specifications, it "exercised its option to re-advertise its bids," and argued that this decision effectively rendered Precision's Appeal moot. Despite Precision's arguments to the Circuit Court that the County

was not permitted under Mississippi law to reject all bids and rebid the project in order to avoid liability under Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, the Circuit Court entered an Order staying Precision's Appeal. The Court's Order also provided the County an opportunity to remedy their wrong by mandating that the Hinds County Board of Supervisors reconsider the original proposals of the vendors who submitted bids for the early warning siren project as of August 29, 2008. (R. E. 12). The County accordingly "reconsidered" the bids, and reached the same result it had made prior to the Circuit Court's Order—to reject all of the bids and rebid the early warning siren project. (R. 128). The County alleges that it reached this reasoning by determining that no vendor possessed a certificate of responsibility as required by Mississippi law except for Precision. (R. 133). However, the County alleged that Precision assisted with the procurement of the grant awarded to Hinds County to replace its sirens, and therefore was ineligible to be awarded the contract. Id. As a result of the County's actions, the Circuit Court entered an Order Lifting Stay and Dismissing Appeal, finding that the County's decision to rebid the siren project rendered Precision's Appeal moot. (R. E. 2). In its Order, the Circuit Court also explicitly rejected Precision's argument that Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 mandates that the Circuit Court hear Precision's appeal and reverse the County's award to EDNS. (R. E. 2). From that Order, Precision now appeals.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

When the Hinds County Board of Supervisors advertised for bids for the installment of early warning sirens for the County, Precision and several other vendors submitted bids for the project. It is undisputed that Precision was the only bidder who possessed and displayed a certificate of responsibility in the field of Communications on its bid in compliance with Mississippi law, as well as the County's own bid specifications. Nevertheless, the County did not reject all unlicensed bidders as it was obligated to do under Miss. Code Ann. §§ 31-3-15 and

31-3-21, and instead awarded the contract to EDNS—a bidder who did not possess a Mississippi certificate of responsibility.

Precision appealed the County's award of contract to EDNS to Hinds County Circuit Court in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, which provides the procedure for circuit court appeals of decisions of county boards, and directs the Circuit Court to "affirm or reverse the judgment...[and] [i]f the judgment be reversed, the circuit court shall render such judgment as the board or municipal authorities ought to have rendered." Based on this statute, this Court has repeatedly held that a Circuit Court can make one of three findings: 1) that a contract was properly awarded to the winning bidder; 2) that the contract was not properly awarded to the winning bidder and determine which contractor should have been awarded the contract; or 3) determine that all bids should have been rejected and that the project should have been readvertised. Despite the clear statutory directive of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 and interpreting authorities, the Circuit Court instead remanded the question of consideration of bids back to the Hinds County Board of Supervisors to reconsider the bids as of the original date of submission.

By allowing the Board of Supervisors to reconsider the bids as of the original submission date, the County was given an unprecedented opportunity to remedy the error it made eight months before in considering and accepting the bid of an unlicensed bidder. Consequently, the County was able to make a retroactive determination to reject all bids and decide to rebid the siren project, thus escaping liability and compromising the integrity of the bidding process.

The Circuit Court further erred by then declaring that because it had allowed the County to go back and remedy its error and the project was being rebid, Precision's Appeal was moot and should be dismissed. Mississippi law is clear that an action is moot because the controversy has expired at the time of review; however, the Circuit Court took the very actions that rendered

the appeal moot—an action that could be taken by any court at any time to terminate a controversy. In any event, the mootness doctrine will not be invoked when the issue at hand affects public interest. It is well recognized that Mississippi bidding laws are matters affecting the public interest that would preclude dismissal on mootness grounds, even if the Circuit Court were justified in declaring an action moot.

Because the Circuit Court erred in interpreting its role as an appellate court pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 and in declaring Precision's Appeal moot, the Court should reverse the Circuit Court's dismissal of Precision's Appeal. In addition, the Court should either remand Precision's Appeal to the Circuit Court for a proper hearing consistent with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, or alternatively find that evidence presented by Precision is sufficient to find that the County acted illegally, and that Precision was the only qualified recipient of the early warning siren contract.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

This Court has held that it will "not set aside the action of the governing body of a municipality unless such action is 'clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory or is illegal or without substantial evidentiary basis." *Nelson v. City of Horn Lake*, 968 So. 2d 938, 942 (Miss. 2007) (quoting *Sunland Publ'g Co.*, 710 So. 2d at 882)). An act is arbitrary or capricious if it "is not based on substantial evidence," *Hinds County Board of Supervisors v. Leggette*, 833 So. 2d 586, 590 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), or it is "done at pleasure, without reasoned judgment or with disregard for the surrounding facts and circumstances." *Nelson*, 968 So. 2d at 942. An act by a board of supervisors is illegal if it is done in violation of state law. *See, e.g., Richardson v. Canton Farm Equipment, Inc.*, 608 So.2d 1240 (Miss. 1992). In an appeal of a decision of a county board of supervisors where the court must consider questions of law,

however, "the Board's decision will be considered de novo." A & F Properties, LLC v. Madison County Board of Supervisors, 933 So. 2d 296, 300 (Miss. 2006). See also Leggette, 844 So. 2d at 590.

In this case, however, the Circuit Court did not consider whether the County acted arbitrarily, capriciously or illegally. Instead, the Circuit Court remanded the question of award of contract back to the Board of Supervisors for reconsideration. Then the Circuit Court considered the County's Motion to Dismiss Appeal on the ground of mootness and ultimately granted the County's Motion to Dismiss Appeal. Therefore, this Court must employ a standard of review for the Circuit Court's dismissal of the appeal. When considering issues of law, the Supreme Court must employ a *de novo* review. *Whitaker v. Limeco Corp.*, 2010 WL 1379991, 3 (Miss. 2010). Likewise, "[w]hen reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment, this Court likewise applies a *de novo* standard of review." *Id.* (quoting *Burleson v. Lathem*, 968 So.2d 930, 932 (Miss. 2007)).

# II. The Hinds County Board of Supervisors Acted Illegally in Awarding the Siren Contract to a Party Who Did Not Possess a Certificate of Responsibility, Rendering the Award of Contract Null and Void.

Under Mississippi law, bidders for public contracts must comply with certain certification requirements in order to be considered and/or awarded contract. These certification requirements are set forth in Miss. Code Ann. §§ 31-3-13 through 31-3-21. Specifically, Section 31-3-15 provides:

No contract for public or private projects shall be issued or awarded to any contractor who did not have a current certificate of responsibility issued by said board at the time of the submission of the bid, or a similar certificate issued by a similar board of another state which recognizes certificates issued by said board. Any contract issued or awarded in violation of this section shall be null and void.

In addition, Section 31-3-21 requires that "[a]ny bid which is submitted without a certificate of responsibility number issued under this chapter and without that number appearing

on the exterior of the bid envelope, as and if herein required, at the time designated for the opening of such bid, shall not be considered further, and the person or public agency soliciting bids shall not enter into a contract with a contractor submitting a bid in violation of this section." Thus, under the clear language of Section 31-3-21, the County was not authorized to award a contract to any contractor who did not have a current certificate of responsibility at the time of bidding, or even to any contractor who failed to submit a bid without its certificate on the bid envelope exterior. Precision set forth this argument and supporting law in numerous pleadings filed before the Circuit Court. See, e.g., R. 14, 72, 73 and Exhibit to Record (Appellant Brief filed in Hinds County Circuit Court). In addition, Precision also submitted the Affidavit of John Sullivan, Executive Secretary of the Mississippi Board of Contractors, who affirmed that neither EDNS nor Federal Signal Corporation possessed a certificate of responsibility at the time of its bid submission in direct violation of Miss. Code Ann. §§ 31-3-15 and 31-3-21. (R. E. 8). Accordingly, the Circuit Court was well aware not only that EDNS should not have been awarded the siren contract, but also that the contract between EDNS and the County was null and void pursuant to Section 31-3-15.

- III. The Circuit Court Erred in Interpreting Its Role As An Appellate Court Under Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75.
  - 1. The Circuit Court Did Not "Render Such Judgment as the Board Ought to Have Rendered."

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 governs Circuit Court appeals from a decision of a county board of supervisors. It provides, in relevant part:

Any person aggrieved by a judgment or decision of the board of supervisors, or municipal authorities of a city, town, or village, may appeal within ten (10) days from the date of adjournment at which session the board of supervisors or municipal authorities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Precision also set forth uncontraverted evidence that no bidder for the siren project except Precision possessed an certificate of responsibility in the field of Communications Systems, thus rendering it the only bidder who could legally be awarded the contract. *Id. See also* MISS. CODE ANN. § 31-3-13(g) (requiring that contractors possess industry-specific certificates of responsibility and prohibiting an award of contract to contractor uncertified in such specific industry).

rendered such judgment or decision, and may embody the facts, judgment and decision in a bill of exceptions which shall be signed by the person acting as president of the board of supervisors or of the municipal authorities. The clerk thereof shall transmit the bill of exceptions to the circuit court at once, and the court shall either in term time or in vacation hear and determine the same on the case as presented by the bill of exceptions as an appellate court, and shall affirm or reverse the judgment. If the judgment be reversed, the circuit court shall render such judgment as the board or municipal authorities ought to have rendered, and certify the same to the board of supervisors or municipal authorities. Costs shall be awarded as in other cases. The board of supervisors or municipal authorities may employ counsel to defend such appeals, to be paid out of the county or municipal treasury. Any such appeal may be heard and determined in vacation in the discretion of the court on motion of either party and written notice for ten (10) days to the other party or parties or the attorney of record, and the hearing of same shall be held in the county where the suit is pending unless the judge in his order shall otherwise direct.

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