# 2009-CC-01720 E

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and/or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Hinds County Board of Supervisors Appellee

Hon. Tomie Green Hinds County Circuit Court Judge

Precision Communications, Inc.. *Appellant* 

Robert L. Gibbs, Katie L. Wallace Attorneys for Appellant

Crystal Wise Martin Attorney for Appellee

So certified, this the 17th day of August, 2010.

Crystal Wise Martin

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court was correct in dismissing Precision Communications' appeal as moot when the Hinds County Board of Supervisors decided to reject all of the bids and rebid the project. The law is clear that a losing bidder's appeal is moot if, after the losing bidder lodges a protest, the governmental entity decides to rebid the project.

Because the appeal is moot, the other issues identified by Precision in its appeal are irrelevant. However, for the sake of argument, Precision's presumption that the bids for the installation of early warning sirens required the bidders to have certificates of responsibility is incorrect. The State Board of Contractors is vested with the authority to determine which contracts require the bidders to have certificates of responsibility and contracts for the purchase and installation of early warning sirens are not on the State Board of Contractors' exhaustive list of contracts requiring such certificates. For this reason, it is not altogether clear that Federal Signal's bid was an illegal one. Again, given the Board's ultimate decision to rebid the project, this issue is irrelevant.

Furthermore, the Circuit Court did not err in remanding the case back to the Board to reconsider its decision with regard to the project. And the Board of Supervisors was well within its rights to thereafter reject all of the bids and put the project up for rebidding.

#### LAW AND ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of review:

The standard of review of an order of a Board of Supervisors is the same standard which applies in appeals from the decisions of administrative agencies. *Barnes v. Board of Supervisors*, 553 So.2d 508, 511 (Miss.1989). "The decision of an administrative agency is not to be disturbed unless the agency order was unsupported by substantial evidence; was arbitrary or capricious; was beyond the agency's scope or powers; or violated the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved party." *Board of Law Enforcement Officers Standards & Training v. Butler*, 672 So.2d 1196, 1199 (Miss.1996). *See also Van Meter v. City of Greenwood*, 724 So.2d 925 (Miss.App.1998); Hinds *County Board of Supervisors v. Leggette*, 833 So.2d 586 (Miss. 2002). "[S]o long as the governing body's decision is 'fairly debatable,' [appellate courts] are without authority to supplant the municipality's legislative action." *Gannett River States Publishing Corp. v. Jackson Advocate*, 856 So.2d 247, 249 (Miss. 2003).

1. Assuming for the sake of argument that it matters at this point, the Board did not act illegally in awarding the contract as it did.

Precision argues that the initial award of the bid to Federal Signal was illegal because Federal Signal's bid did not have a certificate of responsibility<sup>4</sup> attached to it.

M.C.A. § 31-3-15 mandates that bids for public projects can only be awarded to contractors who have a certificate of responsibility from the Mississippi State Board of

Contractors or from a similar board of another state. The purpose of this requirement "is to protect the health, safety and general welfare of all persons dealing with those who are engaged in the vocation of contracting and to afford such persons an effective and practical protection against incompetent, inexperienced, unlawful and fraudulent acts of contractors." M.C.A. § 31-3-2. Any bid submitted without a certificate of responsibility number on the outside of the bid is not to be considered. M.C.A. §31-3-21.

#### M.C.A. § 31-3-15 states as follows:

No contract for public or private projects shall be issued or awarded to any contractor who did not have a current certificate of responsibility issued by said board at the time of the submission of the bid, or a similar certificate issued by a similar board of another state which recognizes certificates issued by said board. Any contract issued or awarded in violation of this section shall be null and void.

M.C.A. § 31-3-1 defines a contractor as "[a]ny person contracting or undertaking as prime contractor, subcontractor or sub-subcontractor of any tier to do any erection, building, construction, reconstruction, repair, maintenance or related work on any public or private project . . . ."

That the statutory scheme is not wholly unambiguous as to which public contracts it applies is evidenced by the fact that the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the State Board of Contractors has the authority "to determine what types of work require a contractor to obtain a certificate of responsibility." *Clancy's Lawn Care & Landscaping*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Apparently a certificate of responsibility is the same thing as a license. *See* <a href="http://www.msboc.us/faqs.html">http://www.msboc.us/faqs.html</a> ("a Certificate of Responsibility is the title of the commercial

Inc. v. Mississippi State Bd. of Contractors, 707 So.2d 1080, 1083 (Miss. 1997). Thus, for example, in Clancy's Lawn Care, the Court held that the State Board of Contractors had the authority to determine that a contractor hired to landscape the land adjacent to a state highway need not have a certificate of responsibility. Id.

As the entity empowered to determine which contracts require a certificate of responsibility, the State Board of Contractors, to this end, has set forth some 179 types of contracts for which a contractor must have a certificate of responsibility. *See*<a href="http://www.msboc.us/majorclass.txt">http://www.msboc.us/majorclass.txt</a>. Although the list is quite specific, nowhere in that list is a contract for the installation of early warning sirens. And, indeed, the Mississippi Attorney General has opined that where the purpose of a contract is to purchase and install equipment such as computer equipment, the contract is probably not one which requires the bidder to a certificate of responsibility. Op.Atty.Gen. No. 94-0305,

Ferguson, June 6, 1994.

Federal Signal, which is headquartered in Illinois, has an Illinois license.<sup>6</sup>

Precision argues that "the Circuit Court was well aware not only that [Federal Signal] should not have been awarded the siren contract, but also that the contract between [Federal Signal] and the County was null and void." *Precision's Brief at p. 10*. But it cannot simply be taken as a given that Federal Signal's bid required a certificate of

state license").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is a classification of "communication systems". Bill of Exceptions Vol 2, Ex. 6. Whether or not "communication systems" encompasses early warning systems is, apparently, something upon which the State Board of Contractors has not had occasion to rule.

responsibility for it to have been considered for the early warning siren project.

At any rate, this issue need not be addressed by this Court. Like Precision's appeal in this matter, the issue is moot by virtue of the fact that the Board chose to rebid the project.

#### 2. The Circuit Court did not err in ordering the Board to reconsider the bids.

Precision argues that the Circuit Court erred when it ordered the City to reconsider the bid. Precision contends that pursuant to M.C.A. § 11-51-75, the court should have declared Federal Signal's bid void for want of a certificate of responsibility and then rendered "the decision a board or municipality ought to have rendered". Presumably, Precision means that the circuit court should have awarded the bid to itself. In support of this argument, Precision cites the case of *City of Durant v. Laws Const. Co., Inc.*, 721 So.2d 598 (Miss. 1998). That case, however, supports Hinds County's position that the court was correct when it remanded the case and, in effect, allowed the Board to do what it did which was to rebid the project.

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 (1972), the circuit court is required to render a judgment (sic) which the municipal ought to have rendered. Thus, the circuit court would have ordered the City to not consider King's bid, and either accept the next lowest bid or reject all bids and rebid the project.

City of Durant, 721 So.2d at 601 (emphasis added). In City of Durant, the Mississippi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Federal Signal applied for a Mississippi certificate of responsibility in "Communications Systems" and was awarded the same on February 2, 2009. Bill of Exceptions Vol 2, Ex. 6, ¶ 9.

Supreme Court upheld an award of compensatory damages to the unsuccessful bidder but only because the contractor who had been awarded the bid had almost finished the project and there was no other remedy available. *City of Durant*, 721 So.2d at 606. That is not the case here.

What Precision wanted was for the circuit court to award the bid to itself. However, it cites no authority whatsoever for the proposition that the circuit court should have ordered the Board to award the contract to Precision or, for that matter, that the circuit court erred when it remanded the case back to the Board to reconsider the bids. Where a public agency has accepted a bid and that bid subsequently turns out to be void, the public agency must revoke its acceptance; it then may accept the second lowest and best bid or it may reject all of the bids and readvertise the project. Op. Atty. Gen. No. 2003-0420, Moore, August 15, 2003.

In Preferred Transport Company, LLC v. Claiborne County Board of Supervisors, 32 So.3d 549 (Miss. App. 2010), Claiborne County solicited bids for the collection and disposal of solid waste. After the bid was awarded, one of the unsuccessful bidders, Preferred Transport Company (PTC), appealed claiming that the Board erred in considering factors others than those listed in the requests for proposals. Preferred Transport Company, LLC., 32 So.3d at 551. The circuit court agreed that the Board was wrong to consider factors other than those listed in the RFP. However, rather than order the Board to award the contract to PTC, the court ordered the Board to reopen the RFP process and to include in the specifications the extra factors considered by the Board

when it initially awarded the contract. *Preferred Transport Company, LLC*, 32 So.3d at 551. On appeal, PTC argued, as does Precision Communications here, that the circuit court should have awarded PTC the contract. PTC cited M.C.A. §11-51-75's language that "[i]f the judgment be reversed, the circuit court shall render such judgment as the board of municipal authorities ought to have rendered . . . ." *Preferred Transport Company, LLC*, 32 So.3d at 554.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals rejected PTC's argument on the grounds that M.C.A. §31-7-13(r) specifically allows the governing authority to reinitiate the bid process if it finds none of the bids acceptable. *Preferred Transport Company, LLC,* 32 So.3d at 554. Nor, the Court held, was PTC entitled to compensatory damages. While the Mississippi Supreme Court awarded compensatory damages to the unsuccessful bidder in *City of Durant v. Laws Construction Co.,* 721 So.2d 598, 606 (Miss. 1998), in that case, the contractor who had been illegally awarded the bid had nearly completed the project. An award of damages, then, was the only equitable remedy. *Preferred Transport Company, LLC,* 32 So.3d at 554. Where the project is rebid, a losing bidder is not entitled to compensatory damages.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the bid with Federal Signal was void because it lacked a Mississippi license, Hinds County was perfectly justified in deciding to reopen the bid process.

#### 3. Precision Communications' Appeal was properly dismissed as moot.

The Hinds County Board of Supervisors ultimately chose to rebid the work that is the subject of this appeal. The rebidding of the contract renders moot Precision Communications' appeal concerning the first bid and, thus, its appeal should be dismissed. "[I]f pending an appeal, something occurs without any fault of the defendant which renders it impossible, if our decision should be in favor of the plaintiff, to grant him effectual relief, the appeal will be dismissed." S. Pacific Terminal Co. v. Interstate Commerce Comm., 219 U.S. 498, 514, 31 S.Ct. 279, 55 L.Ed. 310, 315 (1910). See also Strong v. Bostick, 420 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Miss. 1992) (holding that Mississippi Supreme Court will dismiss an appeal "when no useful purpose could be accomplished by entertaining it, when so far as concerns any practical ends to be served the decision upon the legal questions involved would be merely academic"). If an appeal involves questions about rights which no longer exist, the appeal will be dismissed. Gartrell v. Gartrell, 936 So.2d 915, 916 (Miss.2006). See also City of Madison v. Bryan, 763 So.2d 162, 163 (Miss.2000) (holding that suit brought by developer regarding denial of zoning request was moot where developer no longer had an interest in the property that was the subject of the request).

That this principle applies equally to construction contracts is evidenced by a leading treatise in that area: BRUNER AND O'CONNOR ON CONSTRUCTION LAW.

Section 2:145, entitled "Contract formation by competitive sealed bidding—Remedies for improper award and scope of judicial review—Mootness of protest", states as follows:

Once a protested invitation for bids is cancelled or an awarded contract is terminated, the disputes involving them become moot and bidders have no further right to equitable relief. One device employed to sidestep the mootness issue is to request judicial relief against an owner's *future* noncompliance with bidding requirements. A protest also may be made moot by completion of the contract.

Bruner and O'Connor on Construction Law, Section 2:145.

Courts have dismissed appeals by unsuccessful bidders for public projects where, during the pendency of the appeal, the project was rebid. In *Cummins v. Department of Transportation*, 845 A.2d 983 (Penn. 2004), the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation was sued by a disappointed bidder on a bridge project. While the suit was on appeal, the Department decided to rebid the bridge project. The court thereafter dismissed the disappointed bidder's appeal as moot. *Cummins*, 845 A.2d at 985.

The same result was had in *Blesso Fire Systems, Inc. v. Eastern Connecticut State University*, 713 A.2d 1283 (Conn. 1998). In that case, an unsuccessful bidder for a fire alarm system contract brought an action for injunctive relief; then later, during the course of the plaintiff's appeal, the defendant put the entire project out to be rebid. *Blesso*, 713 A.2d at 1283. The plaintiff was not awarded the contract during this rebidding process, and did not challenge the award to a different bidder. The court dismissed the plaintiff's appeal as moot in light of the rescission of the first contract and the rebidding process that had occurred. *Id. See also Paul Wholesale, B.V./HOLS Trading, GmbH, J.V. v. State Department of Transportation*, 908 P.2d 994, 1004 (Alaska 1995) (where appellee cancelled solicitation and rebid concession contract, the appeal from the initial bidding

A.2d 866 (Pa. 1983) (lowest bidder's appeal of contract to refinish the roof of a public building was moot where the city thereafter decided to rebid the project); *Keefe-Shea Joint Venture v. City of Evanston*, 845 N.E.2d 689 (1<sup>st</sup> Dt 2005) appeal denied, 850 N.E.2d 808 (2006) (unsuccessful bidder's claims for order declaring that it was lowest responsible bidder on municipal contract for storm sewer project and that city's contract with successful bidder was null and void, and for mandatory injunction requiring city to enter into contract with unsuccessful bidder, were moot, where, during the pendency of the unsuccessful bidder's action challenging the bidding process, the city terminated the contract awarded to successful bidder); *P. Francini & Co. v. United States*, 2 Cl.Cl. 1 (1983) and *P. Francini & Co., Inc., v. U.S.*, 2 Cl. Ct. 7 (1983) (protest by loser in invitation for bids to modernize courthouse mooted by cancellation of invitation).

As the case of *City of Durant v. Laws Const. Co., Inc.*, 721 So.2d 598 (Miss. 1998), makes clear, the Hinds County Board of Supervisors was well within its rights to reject all of the bids and rebid the contract. The Board's decision to rebid the project means that the outcome of the initial bidding process is irrelevant and Precision Communications' appeal from its failure to obtain the contract on the initial bid is moot.

This is not a case akin to *Richardson v. Canton Farm Equipment, Inc.*, 608 So.2d 1240 (Miss. 1992), wherein the Board of Supervisors conspired to award a bid for tractors in contravention of every law designed to protect the public interest in the awarding of public projects. The Board of Supervisors in this case awarded a bid to the company who they considered to have the lowest and best bid. Precision

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